



CONSTITUTION

of the

REGINA 5-PIN BOWLERS' ASSOCIATION

and the

REGINA ZONE

CONSTITUTION APPROVED AT ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING – JUNE 14, 2017

Table of Contents

ARTICLE 1.....	3
NAME.....	3
ARTICLE 2.....	3
OBJECTIVES.....	3
ARTICLE 3.....	4
MEMBERSHIP.....	4
ARTICLE 4.....	4
MANAGEMENT AND ORGANIZATION.....	4
ARTICLE 5.....	5
ELECTION OF OFFICERS.....	5
ARTICLE 6.....	6
DUTIES OF OFFICERS.....	6
ARTICLE 7.....	8
MEETINGS.....	8
GENERAL.....	8
EXECUTIVE.....	9
ARTICLE 8.....	10
LIFE MEMBERS.....	10
ARTICLE 9.....	10
PROVINCIAL AND NATIONAL EVENTS.....	10
MANAGERS.....	10
COACHES.....	11
ARTICLE 10.....	12
MISCELLANEOUS.....	12

*** RULES & REGULATIONS FOLLOW THE CONSTITUTION ***

CONSTITUTION

of the

REGINA 5-PIN BOWLERS' ASSOCIATION

and the

REGINA ZONE

ARTICLE 1

NAME

1. The Regina 5-Pin Bowlers' Association is hereinafter referred to as the "Association".
2. The Regina Zone¹ is hereinafter referred to as the "Zone".
3. Any Associations within the Zone are hereinafter referred to as "Local Associations".
4. The Canadian 5-Pin Bowlers' Association is hereinafter referred to as "C5PBA".
5. The Saskatchewan 5-Pin Bowlers' Association is hereinafter referred to as "S5PBA".

ARTICLE 2

OBJECTIVES

1. To provide, adopt and legislate for its members, uniform rules and regulations governing the game of 5-pin bowling, according to the C5PBA Official Rules and Regulations.
2. To provide, adopt and legislate uniform qualifications and conditions governing tournaments and other events.
3. To fix and determine by rules and regulations the qualifications of all bowlers, teams and leagues who are members of the Association and who participate in any bowling event under the jurisdiction of the Association/Zone.
4. To encourage and foster among its members, and bowlers in general, the spirit of sportsmanship and good fellowship.
5. To maintain and foster interest in the 5-pin bowling game.
6. To have and exercise general care, supervision and direction of bowling leagues under the jurisdiction of the Association, and assist others interested in the 5-pin bowling game.
7. To ensure effective communication between the Association/Zone, its affiliates and members.

¹ Comprised of City of Regina as of September 2016

ARTICLE 3

MEMBERSHIP

1. A member is an individual who holds a current C5PBA membership card through their Local Association.
 - a. The Association shall be the governing body for all bowling leagues/members within its jurisdiction.
 - b. The Zone shall be the governing body for all Local Associations within its jurisdiction.
2. The Association/Zone shall be a representative, legislative and executive body.
3. The membership of the Association shall be composed of all affiliated leagues/members within the jurisdiction of the Association, excluding Spring Leagues.
 - a. The membership of the Zone shall be composed of all Local Associations and members within the jurisdiction of the Zone.
4. Bowlers must become members in order to participate in the programs and receive the benefits of the C5PBA. Bowlers can become members through a league, but will pay membership fees only once per year, regardless of the number of leagues in which they bowl. Youth Bowling Canada (YBC) bowlers who regularly participate in adult leagues will also be required to purchase a membership card in order to receive the benefits of the C5PBA. YBC graduates are eligible to become a C5PBA member at no charge for one (1) year only.
5. A league shall be deemed an affiliated league if **75%** or more of the bowlers are registered members of the C5PBA.
 - a. Each league shall consist of not less than four (4) teams.
 - b. An application for membership shall state the number of teams, list of officers and bowlers in the applicant's league, and shall be accompanied by the membership fee. Annual fees become payable on October 1st and should be paid in full by November 1st annually.
6. Any individual may become a member by purchasing a membership card through their Local Association.

ARTICLE 4

MANAGEMENT AND ORGANIZATION

1. To hold a position on the Executive Committee, a person must purchase a membership card as soon as the cards become available.

The Executive Committee of the Association/Zone shall consist of the following:

 - a. Past President
 - b. President
 - c. Vice-President
 - d. Treasurer
 - e. Correspondence Coordinator
 - f. Record Scores Coordinator
 - g. Entertainment and Trophies Coordinator
 - h. Special Events Coordinator
 - i. Publicity Coordinator

- j. Youth Challenge Coordinator
 - k. Fundraising Coordinator
 - l. Life Members
 - m. Bowling Centre Representatives (if they choose to provide one)
 - n. Zone Delegates
2. It is the duty of all Executive Members to attend meetings of the Association/Zone. If a member of the Executive Committee is absent from three (3) consecutive Executive meetings without good reason, such member may be disqualified as a member of the Executive Committee.
 3. If an office comes open during a term, the President shall have the power to appoint from the general membership, a member for the vacant office until the next general meeting, at which time the office will be open for election for the duration of the term.
 4. The Executive Committee may be paid an annual honorarium. These honorariums shall be set at a general meeting for the next bowling season (see Rules & Regulations).
 - a. The honorariums shall be paid from the funds of the Association.
 - b. Honorariums shall not be paid to Executive Members who do not complete their annual duties.
 5. The Association/Zone may purchase and maintain such insurance for the benefit of its Executive Committee & officers or for matters as the Executive Committee may from time-to-time determine.
 6. All cheques in payment of accounts shall be signed by 2 of 4 officers (co-signers shall not be related or cohabitants). The President, Vice-President, Treasurer, and Correspondence Secretary shall be the signing authorities. As new officers are elected / appointed, signing authorities shall be changed on all accounts within sixty days.
 7. An auditor / audit committee, authorized by the Executive Committee, shall audit the books and accounts of the Association/Zone for each fiscal year ending May 31.
 8. Monies received by the Zone (e.g. MAP grants) will be divided on a per member basis to the Local Associations within the Zone.
 9. All expenditures for Zone bowlers in Provincial and National events will be the responsibility of each Local Association within the Zone, based directly on the number of qualifiers from each of the Local Associations within the Zone.
 10. The Association/Zone shall register and comply with the requirements of "THE NON-PROFIT CORPORATION ACT".

ARTICLE 5
ELECTION OF OFFICERS

1. Each officer shall serve a two-year term. Elections will be held each year.
In even years the following officers are up for election:
 - Vice-President
 - Special Events Coordinator
 - Publicity Coordinator
 - Correspondence Coordinator
 - Fundraising Coordinator
 In odd years the following officers are up for election:

President
Record Scores Coordinator
Youth Challenge Coordinator
Entertainment and Trophies Coordinator
Treasurer

2. The Executive Committee of the Association/Zone shall be elected from the membership, with the exception of:
 - a. Zone Delegates – appointed by their Local Associations, other than Regina.
 - b. Bowling Centre Representatives – appointed by bowling centre managers.
 - c. Life Members – See Article 8.
3. The election of officers shall be held by secret ballot at a general meeting. These newly-elected officers will take office at the conclusion of the meeting at which they were elected.
4. The nominating committee shall consist of the Past President as Chairperson (available or if active), and two Executive Members. The two Executive Members will be chosen by the Executive Committee.
5. The duty of the nominating committee shall be to provide a list of nominees selected from the membership to serve in the various offices of the Executive Committee of the Association/Zone.
6. The nominating committee shall, through the Correspondence Coordinator, notify all Zone affiliates, affiliated leagues and members of the proposed slate of officers, along with the notice of the general meeting. Notification to "members" will be posted in the bowling centres and via the internet/social media.
7. Further nominations for elected officers may be submitted from the floor at a general meeting.

ARTICLE 6

DUTIES OF OFFICERS

1. The Past President shall be the Chairperson (if available or active) of the nominating committee.
2. The President shall:
 - a. Preside at all meetings and perform the usual duties of the President's office;
 - b. Be the Zone Director to the S5PBA;
 - c. Be an ex-officio member of all committees of the Association/ Zone.
3. The Vice-President shall:
 - a. In the absence of the President, perform the duties of the President's office;
 - b. Be Coordinator of Affiliation;
 - c. Be one of two delegates to the S5PBA;
 - d. Be responsible for the Association's equipment
4. The Treasurer shall:
 - a. Receive all monies paid or donated to the Association/Zone and deposit same in a recognized financial institution in the name of the Association;
 - b. Make all payments and disbursements by cheque only, after each account has been passed for payment by the Executive Committee;

- c. Keep a true and accurate account of all receipts and disbursements. Report monthly all receipts and payments and present a financial statement of the Association quarterly.
5. The Zone Delegates shall:
 - a. Be the voice of their Local Associations, other than Regina, at the Executive Committee meetings;
 - b. Promote the Zone and all events held by the Zone in their respective bowling centres.
6. The Correspondence Coordinator shall:
 - a. Record minutes of all meetings;
 - b. At least seven (7) days prior to an Executive meeting, provide to all Executive Committee members (e.g. email, mail), minutes of the previous meeting and notice of next meeting. In the case of a special or emergency meeting Executive Committee members may be notified by other means;
 - c. Notify all Executive Committee members, Zone affiliates, affiliated leagues, members and bowling centre managers of general meetings at least sixty (60) days prior to a general meeting;
 - d. Notify all Zone affiliates, affiliated leagues and members of any proposed changes and/or additions to the Constitution at least sixty (60) days prior to a general meeting;
Note: Notification to "members" referred to in (c) & (d) will be posted in the bowling centres and via social media platforms.
 - e. Be responsible for keeping accurate records of the Rules & Regulations and report any changes to the next general meeting.
7. The Record Scores Coordinator shall:
 - a. Register all accepted records bowled in all Special Events, all other events conducted under the jurisdiction of the Association/Zone, games bowled in all affiliated leagues and determine the Association's record scores and forward them to the Provincial Association.
 - b. Obtain pin supplies from the S5PBA and distribute to bowling centre managers;
8. The Entertainment and Trophies Coordinator shall:
 - a. Be responsible for organizing any banquet or social function held by the Association;
 - b. Be responsible for the selection and purchasing of all uniforms, trophies and awards for all events held by the Association/Zone;
 - c. Be responsible for purchase of awards in recognition of high scores (see Rules & Regulations)
 - d. Be responsible for making arrangements for the presentation of trophies, awards and any prizes in connection therewith.
 - e. Be responsible for the administration and safeguarding of all uniforms, trophies and awards belonging to the Association/Zone;
9. The Special Events Coordinator shall:
 - a. Prepare formats of all events (excluding Youth Challenge) held by the Association/Zone, submit formats and a complete list of qualified coaches to the Executive for approval;
 - b. Facilitate the coaching selection process with the teams (see Article 9.5).

- c. Arrange with bowling centre managers at the beginning of the season, dates, times and locations of events held by the Association/Zone;
 - d. Ensure entry forms for all events (excluding Youth Challenge) are in the bowling centres a minimum of twenty-one (21) days prior to the events;
 - e. Arrange for scorekeepers, Judges of Play, Tournament Chairperson(s) and office staff for events held/hosted by the Association/Zone;
 - f. Notify all affiliated leagues of the City Championships.
10. The Publicity Coordinator shall:
- a. Promote the Association/Zone and the game of 5-pin bowling through the media, internet and social media platforms;
 - b. Be responsible for publicizing all events and the results thereof.
11. The Youth Challenge Coordinator shall:
- a. Assume the duties of the Special Events Coordinator for the Youth Challenge event(s);
 - b. Manage the Youth Challenge teams representing the Zone in the Provincial event.
12. The Fundraising Coordinator shall:
- a. Be in charge of fundraising efforts authorized by the Association/Zone;
 - b. Shall ensure that there is sufficient help at all fundraising efforts;
13. The Bowling Centre Representatives shall:
- a. Be the voice of their respective bowling centre managers at Executive Committee meetings;
 - b. Promote the Association/Zone and all events held by the Association/Zone in their respective centres.
14. The Life Members shall:
- a. Serve as advisers to the Executive Committee;
 - b. Form a Constitution Committee and shall elect their own Chairperson.
15. Each officer may at any time he or she deems necessary, from the membership and / or executive, form a committee to assist with the duties of the office.
16. All officers shall present monthly reports and written year end reports to the Executive Committee.

ARTICLE 7

MEETINGS

GENERAL

1. The Association/Zone shall hold at least one (1) general meeting each year.
2. The President shall have the power to call a special meeting when necessary.
3. A special meeting may be called on written request by one hundred (100) members representing ten (10) leagues of the Association/Zone.
4. For all general and special meetings a minimum of thirty (30) members of the Association representing a minimum of ten (10) affiliated leagues shall constitute a quorum. If there is no quorum, the Chairperson may conduct the business of the Association/Zone. However, all business conducted must be submitted to the next general or special meeting with a quorum and receive approval before becoming effective.
5. All members of the Association/Zone are entitled to vote at general or special meetings. On matters pertaining solely to the Association, only Association members are entitled to vote.

6. No voting by proxy shall be permitted at general or special meetings.
7. Questions, when put in the form of a motion, duly seconded, will be decided by a simple majority of votes. The Chairperson shall vote only if needed to break a tie.
8. a. Any proposed changes and/or additions to the Constitution of the Association/Zone shall be made in writing to the Chairperson of the Constitution Committee not less than ninety (90) days prior to a general meeting.
 - b. The Correspondence Coordinator shall notify all Zone affiliates, affiliated leagues and members of any proposed changes and/or additions to the Constitution at least sixty (60) days prior to a general meeting. Notification to members will be posted in the bowling centres.
 - c. Any proposed changes and/or additions to the Constitution shall require a two-thirds majority of votes in order to be passed, with the exception of item (d). The Chairperson shall vote only if needed to break a tie.
 - d. A motion to change and/or add to the Constitution may be made and seconded from the floor but to be passed requires 100% approval of the voting members present.
9. All bowling centre managers are entitled and requested to attend all general meetings of the Association/Zone and shall be officially notified.

ORDER OF BUSINESS (General Meeting):

Call to Order
 Count of Members
 Reading of the minutes and action thereon
 Correspondence
 President's Report
 Reports of Officers
 Unfinished Business
 New Business
 Election of Officers
 Adjournment

EXECUTIVE

1. The Executive Committee shall hold meetings at least once each month during the bowling season (August - May). The President has the power to call an Executive Committee meeting at any other time deemed necessary.
2. Six (6) elected Executive Committee members shall constitute a quorum at an Executive meeting.
3. Each Executive Committee member shall be allowed one (1) vote, the only exception being Life Members. Only one (1) Life Member other than an elected officer shall have a vote, this being the senior Life Member (by induction) present.
4. On matters pertaining solely to the Association, only Executive Committee members of the Association are entitled to vote.
5. No voting by proxy shall be permitted at an Executive Committee meeting.
6. Questions, when put in the form of a motion, duly seconded, will be decided by a majority of votes. The Chairperson shall vote only if needed to break a tie. The Executive Committee may make decisions via other means (e.g. email, conference call) based on the majority of

votes when it is deemed necessary to make a timely decision in advance of the next Executive Committee meeting as long as there is a quorum available.

ARTICLE 8

LIFE MEMBERS

1. Only one (1) Life Member may be elected to the Association in each bowling season.
2. All petitions from the membership for Life Members shall be submitted to the Executive Committee for consideration at least sixty (60) days prior to a general meeting. The Executive Committee shall have the sole power to make the final selection of Life Members.
3. Petitions for Life Members should be submitted on the basis of valuable services rendered to the Association, with such services being listed in the petition.
4. Life Members shall be presented with an award at a suitable function and receive a yearly membership card.
5. In order to benefit from the experience and counsel of Life Members, they are automatically members of the Executive Committee serving in an advisory capacity.
6. Life Members shall form a Constitution Committee and shall select their own Chairperson.

ARTICLE 9

PROVINCIAL AND NATIONAL EVENTS

1. For the eligibility rules for Provincial and National Events, see the League Executive Handbook.
2. Entry fees for the Zone roll-offs shall be at the discretion of the Executive Committee and shall be announced a month prior to the closing date of the entries for the Zone roll-offs.
3. All qualifiers for the Provincial teams shall abide by the Rules and Regulations as set by the Association/Zone, S5PBA and C5PBA.

4. MANAGERS

- a. The position of manager for the Association/Zone teams, with the exception of the Youth Challenge, shall be made available to any member. Applicants shall apply to the Executive Committee for the position of manager in writing prior to December 31 of the current year. The manager shall then be selected by the Executive Committee. If there are no applicants for this position, the Executive Committee shall appoint one.
- b. The team manager shall have full authority over all team members and coaches and shall report back to the Association/Zone.
- c. See R5PBA Roles and Responsibilities for additional duties.
- d. Duties: With the approval of the Executive Committee:
 - i. Facilitate coaching selection process with the teams (see Article 9.5);
 - ii. Arrange for uniforms;
 - iii. Arrange method of travel and accommodations;
 - iv. Co-ordinate, with the coaches, the rooming arrangements;
 - v. Determine room and meal allowance;

- vi. Collect bowlers fees and assessments from coaches and provide to the Treasurer;
- vii. Inform coaches and bowlers of all Rules and Regulations;
- viii. Arrange lanes for practice, at the provincial events, and advise coaches of time and place;
- ix. Submit required forms to the Provincial Tournament Committee.

5. COACHES

- a. All coaches must be a member and be certified as specified by the C5PBA.
- b. Reference Duties and Responsibility document from Simone.
- c. Procedure for selecting coaches:
 - i. The Special Events Coordinator shall submit a complete list of qualified coaches;
 - ii. The Executive may then, from the list, select who they feel is suitable to coach the Zone teams;
 - iii. The teams (bowlers) representing the Zone shall collectively select a coach from the coaching lists provided by the Executive and contact their selection to ask whether he/she will coach their team;
 - iv. The coach, at their discretion, shall decide whether he/she will coach the team that has contacted them;
 - v. If the coach contacted by the team has already said “yes” to coach another team or has chosen not to coach, the team shall collectively approach other coaches from the coaching list provided by the Executive until they have successfully found a coach.
- b. Duties:
 - i. Be responsible for his/her personnel under the general supervision of the team manager;
 - ii. Inform bowlers of all Rules and Regulations;
 - iii. Collect any assessment that is determined by the R5PBA Executive;
 - iv. Ensure that the conduct of bowlers is in accordance with regulations;
 - v. Inform the team manager of any problem;
 - vi. Co-ordinate, with the team manager, the rooming arrangements;
 - vii. Perform the usual duties of a coach.
 - viii. Being certified coaches, they will conduct themselves in accordance with all coaching regulations.
- c. If his/her team wins the Provincial Championships, he/she will accompany the team to the National Championships. If unable to do so, an alternate coach will be selected by the team from the approved list.

6. ACCOMMODATIONS – Bowlers, Coaches and Manager:

- a. Team personnel accommodations will be coordinated by coaches and managers and approved by the Executive Committee;
- b. Team personnel will be responsible for any extra hotel charges (room service, phone calls, etc.).
- c. All bowlers will travel by the method approved by the Executive Committee.

ARTICLE 10
MISCELLANEOUS

1. Special Awards are for Association members bowling in R5PBA tournaments/special events, regular league bowling, BowlCanada leagues, but excludes spring leagues, must be rolled in a bowling establishment with current certified lanes. (see Rules & Regulations).
2. City Championships shall be held annually (see Rules & Regulations).
3. Special Events may be held at the discretion of the Executive Committee (see Rules & Regulations).
4. That status of lane certification shall be maintained by the S5PBA. When a bowling centre is scheduled for re-certification, as noted below, the S5PBA will notify the zone/association that certification is due. The bowling centre and the zone/association will make suitable arrangements to have the certification completed. Synthetic lane levels for certification purposes will be accepted for a maximum of five (5) years. Wood lane levels for certification purposes will be accepted for a maximum of three (3) years unless the lanes are resurfaced by sanding during the three (3) years concerned. If sanding occurs, lane levels must be rechecked for certification.
5. Any event sanctioned by the R5PBA must be rolled in a bowling establishment with current certified lanes.
6.
 - (a) Individual members or teams who have any complaints involving league matters shall first make their complaints to their respective league executive and if such executive are unable to dispose of any such case satisfactorily, the complaint, accompanied by the complete particulars from all concerned, may be forwarded to the Correspondence Coordinator of the Association/Zone within seven (7) days after the decision has been given by the league executive.
 - (b) Members who have any complaints, other than above, shall forward their written complaint to the Correspondence Coordinator of the Association/Zone within fourteen (14) days of the alleged incident.
 - (c) A grievance committee of no less than three unbiased members, appointed by the President, shall deal with any complaints that are submitted to the Association/Zone. The committee shall submit their findings and recommendations to the Executive Committee within thirty (30) days of being formed.
7. There shall be Rules & Regulations of the Association/Zone. These Rules & Regulations may be changed and/or added to by the Executive Committee (exception Section I Rules & Regulations). Such changes and/or additions shall have force and effect only until the next general meeting when they shall require approval by the membership to remain in effect. The Correspondence Coordinator shall be responsible for keeping accurate records of the Rules & Regulations.
8. Any changes and/or additions to the Constitution and/or Rules & Regulations shall at no time be made retroactive.

RULES & REGULATIONS

of the

REGINA 5-PIN BOWLERS' ASSOCIATION

and the

REGINA ZONE

I N D E X

<u>SECTION</u>	<u>ITEM</u>	<u>PAGE</u>
I	Honorariums	2
II	Special Awards	2
III	City Championships	3

RULES & REGULATIONS APPROVED AT GENERAL MEETING – JUNE 14, 2017

RULES & REGULATIONS

of the

REGINA 5-PIN BOWLERS' ASSOCIATION

and the

REGINA ZONE

These shall be the Rules & Regulations of the Association/Zone. These Rules & Regulations may be changed and/or added to by the Executive Committee (exception – Section I of Rules & Regulations). Such changes and/or additions shall have force and effect only until the next general meeting when they shall require approval by the membership to remain in effect. The Record Scores Coordinator shall be responsible for keeping accurate records of the Rules & Regulations. Any changes and/or additions to the Rules & Regulations shall at no time be made retroactive (*from Constitution Article 10, items 7 and 8*).

SECTION I

HONORARIUMS

(Constitution Article 4, item 4)

1. The President, Correspondence Coordinator, Treasurer, and the Special Events Coordinator shall be paid an honorarium of \$200.00 each per bowling season. The Vice-President, Record Scores Coordinator, Entertainment and Trophies Coordinator, Publicity Coordinator, Fundraising Coordinator and Youth Challenge Coordinator shall be paid an honorarium of \$100.00 each per bowling season. **These honorariums shall be set at a general meeting for the next bowling season.**

SECTION II

SPECIAL AWARDS

(Constitution Article 10, item 1)

1. In league play, awards will be presented to Association members according to the C5PBA awards program (see Secretary's Handbook).
2. Award Jacket
 - a. Jackets will be awarded to Association members for scores of 400 and 1000 in League or Tournament play. It is the responsibility of the League Secretary or Tournament Chairperson to inform the Association, in writing, of a qualifying score (see Manager of bowling centre for Special Awards form). In League or Tournament play, it is the first three (3) games of League or Tournament block that count for 1000 scores, and any game bowled in League play, Playoffs, and Tournament play for 400 scores.

An Association member will receive one (1) jacket to a maximum of \$75 in each category in a 3-year timeframe (e.g. if you qualify for a 400 jacket in 2015/16, then you are not eligible in that category again until 2018/19). Cash shall not be substituted in place of an award.

- b. A jacket and \$200.00 will be awarded to Association members for all Perfect Game Scores (450) in League or Tournament Play.
 - c. An association member that advances to a provincial tournament shall have the option to receive one (1) towel/bowling season with the R5PBA logo and the bowlers' name embroidered at no charge.
3. Record score awards will be presented for:
 - a. Bowling season's record scratch score to the winning bowler, male and female, in each classified division as set out by C5PBA Official Rules & Regulations.
 - b. Bowling season's record team scratch score to the winning team in each division.
 4. (a) Awards shall be presented to the lady and man who have the highest bowling average in the City.
 - (b) To be eligible for awards, they shall have bowled at least **75%** of the games in their respective league schedule.
 - (c) In case of a tie, averages shall be taken to the first decimal point to determine the winner. If a tie still exists, two awards shall be presented.
 5. The Association will not recognize any record or records by individuals or teams if league games are bowled at a time or times other than scheduled. Record or records will also not be recognized for leagues that are not affiliated. The same regulation will apply in determining eligibility for special awards. (Individual leagues may adopt other rulings, but the Association will not recognize scores bowled under any regulations other than those set out by the Association).
 6. (a) Where a team, because the opposing team fails to make an appearance, is required to bowl alone, any records bowled at that time shall be recognized, provided that the team bowled in its regular order on each lane, namely the lead-off player has started bowling on his/her scheduled lane and each succeeding player has followed on that lane until the anchor or last player has bowled; then the lead-off player has started on the opposing team's scheduled lane. In no case shall the lead-off player bowl his/her next frame until the preceding frame has been completed.
 - (b) Records bowled under this Section shall be witnessed by a neutral scorekeeper or bowling centre manager.

SECTION III

CITY CHAMPIONSHIPS

(Constitution Article 10, item 2)

1. (a) City Championship events shall be conducted in the month of May in the current bowling season. This event is for affiliated leagues. All team personnel participating in the City Championships must be members of the C5PBA.
 - (b) Before a league is eligible to enter a representative team the league shall complete a schedule of games consisting of not less than six (6) weeks play or eighteen (18) games and shall be in good standing.
2. City Championships will be conducted on a "pins-over-average" format.

- (a) Mixed teams to be placed in two groups:
 - Group One - Top 50% of entries received, according to the five highest averages of the bowlers that have participated. In case of a tie at the 50% level, teams tied will drop into Group Two.
 - Group Two - Balance of entries received.
- 3. (a) Each league shall be represented by the team awarded the League Championship award. Team personnel must remain the same as in league play. Registered subs may be used if necessary, or a player of like average from the same league. (Like average is determined by dividing the team's total averages by number of players on the team).
- (b) Leagues with teams of less than 5 bowlers shall submit their teams to the Executive for approval.
- 4. Mixed teams may consist of 3 men and 2 ladies, or 2 men and 3 ladies, depending on the respective league's rules for the current bowling season.
- 5. Bowlers must be members of the league they represent, and hold a current C5PBA membership card.
- 6. If a bowler has bowled a sufficient number of games to participate in the league roll-offs, he/she is eligible to compete in the City Championships.
- 7. Seven (7) bowlers shall be the maximum number of bowlers on any one team.
- 8. There will be no substitutions during a game. Any line-up changes shall be at the start of a game.
- 9. Three (3) games shall be bowled.
- 10. The cost of bowling shall be paid by the Association.
- 11. Bowling season-end averages shall be used and such averages shall be accompanied by an entry form to the Association for each event.
- 12. If there is only one (1) league in any division, there will be no City Championship awarded.
- 13. During the City Championship event, if a team is missing one of their members, a sum of 90% of the missing bowler's league average will be used as their score. (This coincides with procedure during regular league bowling).
- 14. The City Championship event for the 55-Plus leagues will be conducted in conjunction with that of all other leagues, and the Regina bowling proprietors will be responsible for lineage cost for their first league representative in the event, while the R5PBA will be responsible for lineage for the second team. If there is only one team represented, the R5PBA will not be responsible for any lineage.